IN RE ROBERT WALLIN

CWA Appeal No. 00-3

FINAL DECISION

Decided May 30, 2001

Syllabus

This proceeding arises from a discharge of manure-laden wastewater from the Bob Wallin Dairy (the "Dairy"), a dairy cattle operation owned and operated by Robert J. Wallin. On February 13, 1998, inspectors from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region X (the "Region") observed manure-laden wastewater entering a wetland on the Dairy property and then exiting the property in the direction of the White River. Sampling conducted by the inspectors on the Dairy property revealed that the wastewater contained high levels of fecal contamination.

In connection with these events, the Region filed an administrative complaint against the Dairy pursuant to Clean Water Act ("CWA") section 309(g)(2)(A), alleging that the Dairy had violated CWA section 301(a) on February 13, 1998, by discharging a pollutant through a manmade ditch into a navigable water without a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") permit. In its complaint, the Region charged that the Dairy qualified as a Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation ("CAFO") pursuant to regulations at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122, thus constituting a point source subject to NPDES permitting requirements under the CWA. The Region proposed a penalty of \$11,000 for the alleged violation, the maximum allowable amount for a single violation under CWA section 309(g)(2)(A).

Following an evidentiary hearing, the Presiding Officer issued an initial decision in which he concluded that the Dairy was a CAFO subject to NPDES permitting, and that the Dairy had violated CWA section 301(a) on February 13, 1998, by discharging a pollutant into the wetland located on its property without an NPDES permit. The Presiding Officer, however, reduced the Region's proposed penalty to \$3,000, stating that the Region had failed to demonstrate that the Dairy's discharge posed a risk of environmental harm to the White River and that the Dairy could not pay a more substantial penalty because of its limited financial resources. In reaching his decision, the Presiding Officer also declined to increase the penalty to recoup any of the more than \$15,000 of economic benefit the Region alleged the Dairy realized by deferring, over an extended period of time, expenditures on waste storage capacity needed to achieve CWA compliance.

The Region appealed, seeking an increase in the Dairy's penalty on the grounds that the Presiding Officer misapplied CWA statutory penalty factors directing the EPA, in imposing administrative penalties, to consider, *inter alia*, the gravity or harm associated with a violation, any economic benefit gained by a violator through noncompliance, and a violator's ability to pay a penalty.

- Held: (1) The record does not support recovery, pursuant to the statutory penalty factors, of the alleged economic benefit the Dairy gained through noncompliance. The Region's economic benefit calculation was predicated on an extended period of noncompliance, and in this regard the record is insufficient to establish that the Dairy was out of CWA compliance on any day other than the single documented violation on February 13, 1998. Consequently, the Board will not increase the penalty assessable against the Dairy on the basis of the economic benefit of noncompliance.
- (2) In reducing the Region's proposed penalty based on the gravity of the Dairy's violation, the Presiding Officer clearly erred by concluding that it was highly unlikely or improbable that the discharge of wastewater from the Dairy on the date of violation reached the White River. Despite this error, the Region has adduced insufficient evidence to support its claim that on the date of violation the Dairy's discharge posed a significant threat to the White River. The Board therefore declines to increase the gravity-based penalty based on this claim.
- (3) In holding that the Dairy lacked the financial resources to pay a penalty greater than \$3,000, the Presiding Officer misapplied the Agency's and a violator's respective burdens of proof regarding a violator's ability to pay a penalty as delineated in several previous Board decisions. Here, the Region satisfied its initial burden of producing general financial information showing that the Dairy's financial status would not prevent it from paying the full penalty sought. By providing only vague statements regarding its lack of financial resources, the Dairy, however, failed to satisfy its burden of contradicting, through specific facts, the Region's initial showing. In addition, the Presiding Officer erred by relying upon the Dairy's *pro se* status as the principal reason for reducing the Dairy's penalty. The mere fact that the Dairy proceeded *pro se*, and nothing more, does not satisfy the Dairy's burden of specifically showing that it could not pay the otherwise assessable penalty. Therefore, the Board reverses the Presiding Officer's reduction of the Dairy's penalty based on its inability to pay.
- (4) Without the benefit of a downward adjustment for inability to pay, the Dairy is subject to a gravity-based penalty of \$5,500. Thus, the Dairy is ordered to pay a total penalty of \$5,500 for its CWA violation.

Before Environmental Appeals Judges Scott C. Fulton, Ronald L. McCallum, and Kathie A. Stein.

Opinion of the Board by Judge Fulton:

I. INTRODUCTION

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region X ("Region") appeals an Initial Decision issued by the Presiding Officer imposing upon Respondent Robert Wallin, doing business as the Bob Wallin Dairy (the "Dairy" or "Wallin Dairy"), a civil penalty of \$3,000 for violating section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), by discharging agricultural wastes through a manmade ditch into a navigable water without a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") permit.

While not contesting the Presiding Officer's liability finding, the Region contends that the Presiding Officer erroneously reduced the \$11,000 penalty it had proposed to \$3,000, in contravention of statutory provisions and policy guidance on CWA penalties. The Dairy does not appeal the Initial Decision.

II. BACKGROUND

A. Regulatory Background

In concluding that the Dairy was liable under the CWA as alleged by the Region, the Presiding Officer made the predicate determination that the Dairy constituted a "Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation" ("CAFO") and was thus a "point source" required to obtain an NPDES permit before discharging a pollutant into a navigable water. Although the Dairy's liability as a CAFO is not in direct contention here, a brief review of the regulatory status of CAFOs is nonetheless instructive in addressing the penalty issues on appeal.

Part 122 of Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations sets forth numerous criteria for determining whether agricultural operations that raise farm animals constitute CAFOs. These criteria include, *inter alia*: the purpose of the agricultural operation; the number of animals confined by an operation; the type of farm animal raised (whether cattle, swine, horses, poultry, sheep, etc.); and certain site-specific factors affecting the likelihood of the operation to discharge animal and process wastes into a navigable waterway, such as the operation's proximity to navigable water, rainfall amounts, and type of vegetation. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 122.23; 40 C.F.R. part 122, app. B.

At a minimum, all CAFOs must meet the definition of an "Animal Feeding Operation." In order to qualify as an Animal Feeding Operation, "any lot or facility other than an aquatic animal production facility" must meet the following two requirements: (1) the lot or facility must stable or confine and feed or maintain animals for a total of 45 days or more in any 12-month period; and (2) the lot or facility must not sustain "crops, vegetation forage growth, or post-harvest residues * * * over any portion of [the] lot or facility." 40 C.F.R. § 122.23(b).

To determine which Animal Feeding Operations qualify as CAFOs, Appendix B of Part 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations subjects Animal Feeding

¹ Section 502(14) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14), defines a "point source" as "any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any * * * concentrated animal feeding operation, * * * from which pollutants are or may be discharged." (emphasis added).

² Section 502(12)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12)(A), defines "discharge of a pollutant" as the "addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source."

Operations to a two-tiered system of thresholds associated with the number of animals that an operation confines. *See* 40 C.F.R. part 122, app. B. Within each tier, a CAFO is determined by animal-specific thresholds (dairy cattle, slaughter cattle, swine, sheep, ducks, hens, etc.) or a generic "animal-unit" threshold derived from a formula that assigns a specific "animal unit" value to different types of animals. The first tier of thresholds applies to Animal Feeding Operations regardless of how they cause a discharge to a navigable water; the second tier — which establishes lower thresholds than the first — applies only if a discharge occurs to a navigable water "through a manmade ditch, flushing system or other similar man-made device." *See id.*

It is the second tier of size thresholds that applies to this proceeding, since the Region asserted, and the Presiding Officer found, that Wallin Dairy discharged to a navigable water directly "through a manmade ditch, flushing system or other man-made device." To qualify as CAFOs under this tier, dairy operations must exceed a size of "200 mature dairy cattle," or, for diverse livestock operations, "300 animal units." For purposes of the latter threshold, a mature dairy cow counts as 1.4 animal units. *Id.*⁴

B. Factual and Procedural Background

Robert Wallin is owner and operator of the Wallin Dairy, located near Enumclaw, Washington, which he has operated since 1969. At the time of the Dairy's violation on February 13, 1998, the facility confined 240 mature dairy cows or 336 animal units, thus exceeding the thresholds for regulation as a CAFO. *See* Complainant's Trial Exhibit ("CTE") No. 4 (CAFO Inspection Report Bob Wallin Dairy).

The Wallin Dairy property includes an upper pasture area, containing the Dairy facilities, and a lower pasture area, containing a wetland, which consists of a permanent swamp. *See* Hearing Transcript ("Tr") at 25; CTE No. 4. The upper and lower pasture areas are separated by a canyon wall. Tr. at 25. Located outside

³ An Animal Feeding Operation is also subject to the second tier of lower thresholds if it "discharge[s pollutants] directly into waters of the United States which originate outside of and pass over, across, or through the facility or otherwise come into direct contact with the animals confined in the operation." 40 C.F.R. part 122, app. B. The Region did not seek to establish the Dairy's CWA liability upon this basis.

⁴ The regulations at part 122 also allow the Region or an authorized state to designate an animal feeding operation as a CAFO on a case-by-case basis regardless of whether the animal feeding operation meets a numeric size threshold. Such case-by-case designation requires assessment of numerous factors such as operation size, location, manner of discharge; it also involves consideration of additional factors such as rainfall, vegetation and slope that affect the likelihood of a facility to discharge wastes into waters of the United States. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 122.23. The Region did not seek to establish the Dairy's status as a CAFO upon this basis; here the numeric thresholds are the linchpin.

the Dairy property line and abutting the lower pasture from the south is a wooded flood plain, which slopes down to the White River. *Id.*; CTE No. 1.

At the time of the violation, the Dairy facilities on the upper pasture included a dirt floor and concrete confinement areas for housing cows, a silage bunker for cattle feed, and a 30,000-gallon underground storage tank. Tr. at 24; CTE No. 1 (CAFO Inspection Report Bob Wallin Dairy). The Dairy used the underground storage tank to contain dairy wastes, primarily manure, although water and other liquids also drained into the tank. The Dairy routinely pumped wastes from the storage tank and then applied them to fields on its property using a sprinkler system. During the wet winter months, such as at the time of the Dairy's violation, it was necessary for the Dairy to land-apply wastewater daily because of inadequate waste storage. CTE No. 4 att. A (CAFO Inspection Checklist Bob Wallin Dairy).

On February 13, 1998, two Region X inspectors, Joseph Roberto and Jed Januch, discovered dairy waste in the vicinity of a sprinkler that had sprayed liquid manure onto a field. Tr. at 42-43. The dairy waste ran off the field into a drainage ditch that bordered the property and then flowed down the canyon wall into the wetland on the lower pasture. Tr. at 25, 46. From there, runoff entered an unnamed creek. Initial Decision at 5; CTE No. 4, att. C. The Region's inspectors observed the unnamed creek flowing in the direction of the White River, but did not follow its course further downstream, assuming that the unnamed creek entered the White River below the Dairy property. Tr. at 48; CTE No. 4; CTE No. 8. The Dairy did not have an NPDES permit for the observed discharge.

The inspectors sampled runoff at several locations at the Dairy. The inspectors took one sample of wastewater in the field where manure had recently been applied as well as another in the drainage ditch bordering the Dairy. CTE No. 1; Tr. at 44-45. The inspectors also took one sample in the unnamed creek just before it entered the forested flood plain. *Id.* at 47 (Roberto Testimony). Tests of these samples revealed extremely high levels of fecal coliform, a bacteria species used to indicate the presence of fecal contamination. *Id.* at 117. The inspectors also took a control sample upstream of the Dairy, which revealed considerably lower levels of fecal coliform. *Id.* at 44-47; CTE No. 4.

On May 22, 1998, the EPA issued an administrative complaint against owner Robert Wallin pursuant to section 309(g)(2)(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(2)(A), alleging that Wallin Dairy, on February 13, 1998, had discharged a pollutant ("manure laden dairy wastes") into a navigable water of the United States without an NPDES permit, in violation of section 301(a) of the CWA. The Region proposed an administrative penalty of \$11,000 for the alleged violation — the maximum allowable amount per violation under this statutory

provision.⁵ Mr. Wallin filed an answer to the Complaint on June 29, 1998.

On November 18, 1998, a number of months after the filing of the Complaint, Region X inspector Roberto (accompanied by Mr. Lazzar, another Region X inspector), Troy Wallin (Robert Wallin's son), Wallin's attorney, and an EPA attorney returned to the area of the Dairy where Mr. Roberto had earlier witnessed a discharge. Tr. at 53. (Roberto Testimony). Mr. Roberto explained that the purpose of the return visit was to establish that there was a connection between the wastewater and waters of the United States (i.e., the White River), and that the visit was prompted by Mr. Wallin's concerns that the Region had failed to show such a connection as alleged in its Complaint. Id. at 53-54. According to Mr. Roberto, the group, starting with the Dairy buildings, followed the drainage ditch to the point where it ran "down the canyon wall into the lower pasture area." Id. at 54. Mr. Roberto related that up to this point there was no flow in the channel, but there was a "well-defined channel going into the flood plain area." Id. at 54-55. He stated that the group followed the course of the channel into the forested flood plain and encountered water in the channel at a point "just past an unidentified access road" located in the flood plain. Id. at 55. According to Mr. Roberto, the water there was "a couple feet deep." Id. at 55.

On December 22, 1998, inspectors Roberto and Lazzar revisited the Dairy, having determined that they needed additional information to document a connection between the Dairy and the White River. Tr. at 56. (Roberto Testimony). On this visit, the inspectors returned to the same location just south of the access road where they had found water during their previous inspection, and from this point walked the course of the unnamed creek down to the White River. Mr. Roberto reported that during their trek, the inspectors observed the unnamed creek flowing continuously below the access road to the White River. *Id.*

After proceedings in this case had commenced, Robert Wallin initiated improvements to the Dairy's waste containment system. In August 1998, Robert Wallin installed a much larger underground waste storage facility to store manure at a cost of approximately \$32,000, and implemented additional changes to the Dairy's waste management system. Tr. at 150-52. According to Mr. Wallin, the storage facility became operational in October 1998. Tr. at 150.

⁵ In accordance with CWA section 309(g)(2)(A), the Region sought to assess upon Mr. Wallin a class I civil penalty, which cannot exceed \$10,000 per violation and \$25,000 in total. However, pursuant to the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. § 3701, and implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. § 19.4, the statutory maximum penalty under section 309(g)(2)(A) for any violation occurring after January 30, 1997, has increased from \$10,000 to \$11,000 per violation.

The Presiding Officer held an evidentiary hearing on April 6, 1999, at which Robert Wallin appeared *pro se.*⁶ On May 12, 2000, the Presiding Officer rendered an Initial Decision, which found that the Dairy, on February 13, 1998, had violated CWA section 301(a) by discharging a pollutant⁷ into the wetland — a navigable waterway within the meaning of the CWA — without an NPDES permit. In finding the Dairy liable, the Presiding Officer agreed with the Region that the Dairy constituted a CAFO, and thus a point source under the CWA.

The Presiding Officer, however, reduced the \$11,000 penalty the Region proposed to \$3,000. In the course of his decision, the Presiding Officer ruled that the Region had failed to demonstrate that the Dairy's discharge posed a risk to the White River and that the Dairy could not pay a substantial penalty in light of its limited financial resources. Initial Decision at 11-12.

The Region filed its notice of appeal on June 1, 2000, and with the Board's leave, filed its supporting brief on June 12, 2000. *See* Appellate Brief ("Appeal Brief"). The Dairy did not file a brief in opposition or appeal the Initial Decision.⁸

In arguing that the Presiding Officer's \$3,000 penalty should be increased, the Region contends, in essence, that the Presiding Officer erred by:

- (1) ignoring uncontested expert testimony showing that the Dairy's noncompliance had resulted in an economic benefit to Respondent of greater than \$15,000;
- (2) concluding that the Region had failed to demonstrate a connection between the Dairy's discharge and the White River a sensitive ecosystem and thus assessing a penalty that ignored "significant threats to human health and the environment posed by the discharges from Respondent's facility"; and

⁶ The Dairy retained legal counsel to represent its interests in this proceeding until February 4, 1999, on which date the Dairy's counsel withdrew its representation. See Notice of Intent to Withdraw, Docket No. 10-98-0069-CWA/G (Jan. 25, 1999).

⁷ In agreeing with the Region that the Dairy had illegally discharged a "pollutant," the Presiding Officer explained that the wastes constituted "agricultural waste," one of the many materials listed under the CWA's definition of "pollutant." Initial Decision at 5; CWA section 502(12); 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12).

⁸ The Board's records indicate that the Dairy received proper service, via certified mail, of the Initial Decision and the Region's appeal brief. *See* 40 C.F.R. §§ 22.5-.7.

(3) concluding that Wallin did not have the ability to pay a civil penalty greater than \$3,000.

Appeal Brief at 8-23.

III. DISCUSSION

The Region's appeal of the Initial Decision is limited to the Presiding Officer's penalty assessment. Accordingly, this proceeding turns on the Presiding Officer's examination of the CWA statutory penalty factors that govern the imposition of administrative penalties. These factors direct the Agency, in imposing such penalties, to consider:

the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violation, or violations, and with respect to the violator, ability to pay, any prior history of such violations, the degree of culpability, economic benefit or savings (if any) resulting from the violation, and such other matters as justice may require.

CWA § 309(g)(3), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(3).9

In appealing the Presiding Officer's penalty determination, the Region focuses its challenge on the Presiding Officer's examination of the following penalty factors: (1) "the economic benefit or saving * * * resulting from the violation"; (2) the "nature, circumstances, extent and gravity" of the violation; and (3) the violator's "ability to pay." We discuss each of these challenges, in turn, below.

A. Economic Benefit of Noncompliance

In its appeal, the Region contends that the Presiding Officer erred by failing to include in the penalty the full economic benefit the Dairy realized as a result of

⁹ In imposing a penalty according to these factors, the Presiding Officer did not have the benefit of a statute-specific penalty policy to guide his decision; EPA has not developed such a penalty policy for the CWA. However, in assessing penalties, the Agency often relies for guidance on EPA's two general penalty policies: the *Policy on Civil Penalties* (EPA General Enforcement Policy #GM-21) (Feb. 16, 1984) and *A Framework for Statute-Specific Approaches to Penalty Assessments: Implementing EPA's Policy on Civil Penalties* (EPA General Enforcement Policy #GM-22) (Feb. 16, 1984). While the regulations governing this proceeding require that Presiding Officers consider such civil penalty policies in reaching their penalty determinations, *see* 40C.F.R. § 22.27(b), Presiding Officers are not required to follow them, since such policies, not having been subjected to rulemaking procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act, lack the force of law. *See In re B & R Oil Co.*, 8 E.A.D. 39, 63 (EAB 1998); *In re Employer's Ins. of Wausau*, 6 E.A.D. 735, 756 (EAB 1997); *In re DIC Americas. Inc.*, 6 E.A.D. 589, 600 (EAB 1996).

deferring the construction of waste storage needed to achieve CWA compliance over an approximately five-year period lasting from May 29, 1993, to November 30, 1998. The Region's expert calculated this economic benefit to be \$15,418. According to the Region's expert witness, the calculation sought to estimate how much the Dairy gained financially by investing its funds in economically remunerative projects, as opposed to required pollution control, during the period of deferred compliance. CTE No. 15 (Billy J. Henderson, *Economic Benefit Derived From Delaying Compliance with the Clean Water Act* 2 (Feb. 5, 1999)).

In his Initial Decision, the Presiding Officer gave only cursory consideration to the Region's arguments in favor of full recovery of the Dairy's unwarranted economic benefit in light of his determination elsewhere in the decision that the Dairy lacked the financial resources to pay more than a minimal penalty. As the Presiding Officer stated:

Notwithstanding any economic benefit which the Respondent may have realized, based solely on [the Dairy's] ability to pay, I find that the penalty should not be increased for economic benefit.

Initial Decision at 14.

In challenging the Initial Decision, the Region avers that the Dairy failed to challenge the expert witness's conclusions, "impeach his methodologies, or contest the assumptions he used in arriving at a \$15,418 economic benefit figure." Appeal Brief at 22. In addition, the Region notes the strong emphasis the Agency places upon removing the economic benefit a violator gains from noncompliance. Appeal Brief at 20 (citing EPA General Enforcement Policy #GM-21). Citing this policy as well as Board precedent, the Region explains that removing a violator's economic benefit is crucial in order to dampen incentives for noncompliance and eliminate any competitive advantage that the violator gains through its illegal activities. *Id.*; see In re B.J. Carney Indus., Inc., 7 E.A.D. 171, 207-08 (EAB 1997), appeal dismissed as untimely, 192 F.3d 917 (9th Cir. 1999), vacated pursuant to settlement, 200 F.3d 1222 (2000). Moreover, the Region asserts that its expert witness, if anything, understated the economic benefit total, because he did not calculate additional economic benefits such as the avoided costs of maintaining

¹⁰ The starting point for the Region's calculation of the benefit the Dairy derived by delaying its compliance costs was the \$32,000 the Dairy spent in building a waste storage facility, (along with a pump and agitator), and in seeding and fencing its property after the Region filed its complaint in this proceeding. See supra Part II.B.; CTE No. 15, at 4 (Testimony of Billy J. Henderson). The calculation assumed that the Dairy reaped its financial advantage over an approximately six-year period — that is, from an "on-time" compliance date of May 29, 1993 (which preceded the filing of the Region's complaint by exactly five years) to October 30, 1999, the date the expert estimated the Dairy would pay a penalty associated with its noncompliance.

and operating a pollution control system between May 29, 1993 and November 30, 1998, and did not include in his economic benefit calculation the other benefits the Dairy realized by delaying construction of other waste handling improvements over this period. Appeal Brief at 23.

Moreover, the Region asserts that, in view of the magnitude of the Dairy's economic benefit, the Dairy should pay a penalty amount not less than the statutory maximum of \$11,000 in order to allow fullest possible recovery of the Dairy's unwarranted gains. Finally, the Region contends that, contrary to the Presiding Officer's findings, the Dairy has the resources to pay this amount. Appeal Brief at 22.

We do not quarrel with the Region's methodology in arriving at its economic benefit amount nor question the paramount importance Agency penalty policy and previous Board decisions place upon extracting the economic benefits violators reap through their noncompliance. In our view, however, the Region has not adduced sufficient information from which one could reasonably infer that the Dairy more likely than not engaged in an *extensive* period of noncompliance during which it derived unwarranted economic benefit by deferring expenditures that would have brought it into CWA compliance.

In deriving an economic benefit figure, the Region's formula assumes that, lacking sufficient waste storage capacity to prevent illegal waste discharges, the Dairy was out of CWA compliance not just on the date of the established violation, but for an *extended period* of time leading up to the violation. The Region defined as a starting point for this period an "on-time" compliance date of May 29, 1993 — the date by which, according to the Region, the Dairy first became subject to CWA requirements and thus should have constructed its waste storage in order to ensure compliance. The Region defined as an endpoint a "compliance" date of November 30, 1998 — the date the Region determined that the Dairy installed its waste storage facility. The span of time between by these two points underpinned the Region's economic benefit calculation.

The record, however, is devoid of any evidence that over this time frame, the Dairy had maintained a similar scale of operation — and thus waste production — such that lacking sufficient waste containment, the Dairy's discharge would likely have reached a navigable water. Likewise, there is no evidence in the record upon which we can conclude that the Dairy was, in fact, regulated as a CAFO over this time frame. Without such evidence, we are unable to conclude that the Dairy was, during the entire period encompassed by the economic benefit calculation, a regulated point source subject to the requirement to obtain an NPDES permit before discharging into navigable waters. We note in this regard that on the date of violation the Dairy exceeded the 200 cow threshold for regulation by only 40 cows. There is nothing in the record upon which we can conclude that the Dairy maintained at least 200 mature dairy cows over the extended non-

compliance period alleged by the Region. Moreover, the Region does not demonstrate how the Dairy, during the alleged period of noncompliance, satisfied the predicate condition of constituting an "Animal Feeding Operation," by "not sustaining" "crops, vegetation forage growth, or post-harvest residues * * * in the normal growing season," and by "stabl[ing] or confin[ing] and fe[eding] or maintain[ing]" animals "for a total of 45 days or more in any 12-month period." 40 C.F.R. § 122.23(b)(i)-(ii).

Without information along these lines, we are unwilling to infer from a single, documented violation that the Dairy was out of compliance over a much longer period of time and thus subject to sanction for having improperly deferred its pollution control investment over that same extended time frame. Indeed, based on the record before us, we are unprepared to assume, for purposes of assessing a penalty, that the Dairy's noncompliance began before the date of violation — February 13, 1998. Moreover, because the record concerning the Dairy's regulatory compliance status after February 13, 1998, suffers many of the same weaknesses as the record pertaining to the Dairy's status prior to February 13, 1998, we are without an adequate basis for computing whatever benefit the Dairy might have garnered by waiting until November 30, 1998, to install its new storage facility. Consequently, we will not increase the penalty assessable against the Dairy on the basis of the economic benefit of noncompliance.

B. Presiding Officer's Finding Regarding the Nexus Between the Dairy's Discharge and the White River

The Region asserts that the Presiding Officer committed a factual error in assessing a \$5,500 penalty based on the gravity of the Dairy's violation. In particular, the Region argues that the Presiding Officer overlooked "evidence and testimony produced at hearing illustrat[ing] * * * significant threats to human health and the environment posed by the discharges from Respondent's facility." Appeal Brief at 1.

Our review of the record on this point begins with the Presiding Officer's decision itself. In rejecting the Region's request for the maximum statutory penalty, the Presiding Officer explained as follows:

Notwithstanding the sensitive nature of the White River and its ecosystem, or the highly pathogenic nature of the cattle manure containing wastewater discharges, the Region's testimony is only relevant, pertaining to the White

We note that in its complaint, the Region alleged CWA noncompliance by the Dairy only on February 13, 1998; it did not plead such noncompliance over the time period forming the basis of its proposed economic benefit assessment against the Dairy. *See* Complaint ¶¶ 11, 18.

River, if the discharge posed a potential risk of harm to the White River. The Region is required to produce some evidence of a potential risk of harm to the White River to sustain its position that the gravity of the violation warrants the maximum penalty.

Initial Decision at 10. The Presiding Officer then assessed a penalty half of that proposed by the Region. *See* Appeal Brief at 15; Initial Decision at 7-11. As the Presiding Officer stated:

I find the discharge [from the Dairy] entered wetlands, which are waters of the United States, but * * * that the subject discharge did not enter, or have the potential to enter the White River.

Initial Decision at 6.

In contesting the Presiding Officer's gravity assessment, the Region maintains that the Presiding Officer erred in making his predicate determination that the Dairy's waste did not enter or have the potential to enter the White River. Appeal Brief at 15. As we explain below, we agree with the Region's argument that the Presiding Officer's determination on this point was indeed erroneous. Nevertheless, we find that an increase in the gravity-based component of the penalty would not be appropriate in this case.

The Presiding Officer's conclusion that it was unlikely that any pollutants reached the White River was based in large measure upon his specific finding that dry conditions prevailed on portions of the unnamed creek on the day of the violation:

Because the unnamed creek was dry at several points along its 1.5-mile channel connecting it with the White River, it is highly improbable that the discharge [from the Dairy] could have migrated downstream, through the dry stretches of the channel, to pose a potential risk of harm to the White River.

Initial Decision at 6.

At the outset, it is noteworthy that in considering it improbable that discharges from the Dairy could have reached the White River on the day of violation, the Presiding Officer nevertheless assumes a connection or nexus does exist between the unnamed creek and and the White River. This assumption is clear from the words in his statement above that the "unnamed creek was dry at several points along its 1.5-mile channel connecting it with the White River." Also, the

Presiding Officer, in this regard, does not appear to question the testimony of two Regional inspectors, who, over the course of two inspections, traced the channel of the unnamed creek from the lower pasture to the White River, and who, during their last inspection, found continuously flowing water in the channel starting from a point in the forested flood plain (below the lower pasture of the Dairy) and extending to the White River. *See supra* Part II.B.

Indeed, the Presiding Officer's conclusion that segments of the unnamed creek were dry on the day of the violation, thereby preventing dairy wastes from reaching the White River, appears to have been based on an erroneous co-mingling of information from an inspection report written nearly one year after the violation at issue with testimony concerning conditions on the date of violation. The November 18, 1998 inspection report upon which the Presiding Officer erroneously relied stated that on this date, a "segment of the unnamed creek closest to the Wallin Dairy was dry at the time of the [Nov. 1998] inspection." CTE No. 11, at 1.

A review of the hearing transcript reveals, however, that areas of the unnamed creek that inspectors had found to be dry on November 18, 1998, were continuous and flowing on February 13, 1998, the date of the violation. For example, under questioning by Regional Counsel at the public hearing, Mr. Roberto, the Region's inspector, described his observations on February 13th in the following manner:

- Q. Did you observe a continuous flow of contaminated wastewater between the land application field and the lower pasture area?
- A. Yes there was a *continuous* flow.
- Q. Could you describe the path this ditch water took after it reached the lip of the canyon wall?
- A. When the drainage ditch entered the canyon wall it flowed down the canyon wall through a well-defined channel, and when it hit the lower pasture area it turned towards the southwest and it headed out towards the direction of the White River. The width of the channel down at the lower pasture area was probably maybe a foot wide and maybe eight inches deep or so in places. And *throughout* that area there was foam in the drainage ditch itself and in that unnamed creek down at the bottom of the hill.

See Tr. at 46 (emphasis added).

We find it difficult to reconcile this description of events on the day of violation with the Presiding Officer's characterization of dry conditions in the unnamed creek channel. Inspector Roberto's testimony, above, that he saw the discharge from the Dairy entering the pasture and then "head[ing] out" towards the White River, *supra*, strongly suggests that the wastewater traversed the lower pasture, exited the pasture, and then entered the forested flood plain below. That is further bolstered by Mr. Roberto's statement on the day of the violation that "we took a [water] sample in the creek just before it *entered the forested flood plane* [sic]." Tr. at 47.

By contrast, Mr. Roberto recounted his observations on November 18th as follows:

First of all, what we did was we started at the dairy buildings and we followed the channel down the canyon wall into the lower pasture area. And at the time that we were there, though, there was no flow in that channel at the time, but there was still a well-defined channel going into the flood plane (sic) area.

Tr. at 54-55 (emphasis added). Clearly, this statement indicates that, unlike February 13, 1998, wastes from the Dairy facilities did not achieve a significant flow on November 18, 1998.

There is additional circumstantial evidence in the record that supports a conclusion that the Presiding Officer erred in finding it highly improbable that the discharge from the Dairy reached the White River. For instance, the Region's inspectors reported that Robert Wallin's son, Troy, had informed them during an inspection that the unnamed creek into which the Dairy waste flow entered the White River, an acknowledgment that Troy Wallin did not deny during the hearing. Tr. at 48; CTE No. 4; CTE No. 8. Moreover, Inspector Roberto recounted that Jack Smith, a Conservation Technician with the Natural Resources and Conservation Services, had informed him that runoff from the Dairy did connect to the White River. CTE No. 4, Att. D. See Concerned Area Residents for the Environment v. Southview Farm, 34 F.3d 114 (2d Cir. 1994) (holding that evidence of discharge of liquid manure to a navigable water from a point source may be proved by circumstantial evidence).

In sum, the evidence at hearing and the inspection reports do not support the Presiding Officer's conclusion that on February 13, 1998, dry conditions on the unnamed creek made it "highly improbable" that the discharge from the Dairy entered the White River. Indeed, we are struck by the fact that there is no apparent reference anywhere in the record to dry conditions on February 13, 1998; rather, only the November 18, 1998 report references such conditions. In view of this anomaly, it seems likely that the Presiding Officer simply confused the November

18, 1998 report as relating facts about the February 13, 1998 inspection event. Alternatively, perhaps the Presiding Officer was treating the conditions on November 18, 1998, as representative of conditions more generally at the site, including on February 13, 1998. Such an extrapolation strikes us as inappropriate in view of the obvious variability of site conditions reflected in the record. In any case, the Presiding Officer clearly erred in concluding that it was highly unlikely or improbable that the discharge on the date of violation would have reached the White River.

In terms of how this error bears on the calculation of a gravity-based penalty in this case, we start with what the Presiding Officer did, in fact, consider in arriving at his \$5,500 gravity assessment. As we have discussed, the error in the Presiding Officer's analysis was his discounting the possibility that the unnamed creek flowed into the White River on the day of violation. He appears to have recognized that the unnamed creek was at least an intermittent tributary to the White River, and to have considered the evidence in the record relating to the risks posed by the Dairy's discharge to both the wetland and the unnamed creek. With respect to this aspect of the Presiding Officer's ruling, we note that the Board generally will overturn a presiding officer's penalty assessment only where it can be shown that the presiding officer committed an abuse of discretion or a clear error in assessing the penalty. See In re Chempace Corp., 9 E.A.D. 119, 131 (EAB 2000) (citing In re Pacific Ref. Co., 5 E.A.D. 607 (EAB 1994)). See also In re Spitzer Great Lakes, 9 E.A.D. 302, 315 (EAB 2000). In its appeal, the Region has not pointed to an abuse of discretion or a clear error in the Presiding Officer's assessment as it relates to the wetland and the unnamed creek. Accordingly, we will not disturb this aspect of the Presiding Officer's ruling.

This leaves the question whether, in light of the Presiding Officer's error in concluding that it was highly improbable that the unnamed creek flowed into the White River on the day in question, the gravity-based penalty should be increased based on this consideration. As discussed below, while we have concluded that there is a higher probability than that surmised by the Presiding Officer that on the day of violation the unnamed creek flowed into the White River, based on the record before us, we find wanting the Region's proof of its assertion that the result was a significant risk to the White River.

In the absence of a statute-specific penalty policy for the CWA, we will refer to an Agency general enforcement policy document — A Framework for Statute-Specific Approaches to Penalty Assessments: Implementing EPA's Policy on Civil Penalties (EPA General Enforcement Policy #GM-22) (Feb. 16, 1984) ("Framework") — to assist in our analysis on this point. Of relevance to the instant proceeding, in which the parties dispute the environmental impact of the Dairy discharge, the Framework states that in determining the gravity of a violation, the Agency should consider the "actual or possible harm" associated with a violation. Framework at 15. In arriving at a figure to reflect a violation's harm,

the Framework proposes that the Agency consider, among other things, the amount and toxicity of the pollutant in question — the source of the Region's concern on appeal.

While there does not appear to be any question that, when discharged in large or concentrated amounts, dairy waste can be quite harmful to a sensitive ecosystem like the White River, 12 or that samples taken well upstream of the White River indicated the presence of harmful amounts of fecal coliform, the problem with the Region's argument is that the record is devoid of any evidence that whatever portion of the Dairy's discharge may have ultimately reached the White River in fact posed a significant risk to the River. Indeed, the Region is poorly positioned to address the amounts or toxicity of dairy waste entering the White River on February 13, 1998, since the Region's inspectors never sampled the unnamed creek anywhere near the point at which it entered the White River.

As noted, the evidence in the record does demonstrate that the Dairy's operations contaminated the Dairy property and its immediate surroundings, including the wetland area and portions of the unnamed creek. For instance, the Region's sampling of wastewater in the upper and lower pastures of the Dairy revealed extremely high levels of fecal coliform indicative of serious fecal contamination. 13 Remarking on findings from one sample, the Region's inspector testified that in seven years of inspecting CAFOs, he had only encountered a higher fecal coliform level on two previous occasions. Tr. at 45. Moreover, the levels of fecal coliform sampled by the Region at the Dairy were many times higher than the those levels at which, according to the Region's chief microbiologist, the Salmonella bacterium occurred with almost "100 per cent frequency." Tr. at 122; (Testimony of Stephanie Harris). Even the Presiding Officer, in his Initial Decision, acknowledged the high toxicity of the waste discharged by the Dairy, explaining that he would reject the Region's requests for the maximum penalty assessment, notwithstanding the highly pathogenic nature of the cattle manure containing wastewater discharge. Initial Decision at 10.

¹² The Presiding Officer accepted as a given that the White River is, by virtue of its uses and the species it supports, a sensitive ecosystem. See Initial Decision at 10 n.15. The record is also replete with evidence that dairy wastes can harm aquatic life through excess nutrients, oxygen depletion, and sedimentation of waterways and can cause danger to human health through pathogens, such as E. coli, Salmonella, and Cryptosporidium, that are carried in the feces of livestock. See CTE No. 16 (Testimony of Robert Fritz); Tr. at 120-125 (Testimony of Stephanie Harris).

¹³ The Region took three samples of wastewater downstream of the point at which the Dairy had applied Dairy waste to the upper pasture. The first sample, close to the application point, showed a concentration of 16 million fecal colonies per 100 milliliters ("ml"); the second sample, further downstream, measured 3 million fecal colonies per 100 ml; and a final sample, furthest downstream on the lower pasture, measured 900,000 fecal colonies per 100 ml. According to the Region's inspector, this third sample was taken on the unnamed creek close to where the creek exited the Dairy property. Tr. at 45, 47.

Significantly, however, the record bears no indication that the flow of the unnamed creek into which the Dairy waste ran was limited to the Dairy's waste water. To the contrary, the record suggests that the unnamed stream collected drainage from other sources of water (principally stormwater), increasing the potential for dilution as the unnamed creek flowed in the direction of the White River. *See* Tr. at 55-58; CTE No. 11. The record also indicates that, with increasing distance downstream from the Dairy, fecal contamination became more attenuated. *See supra* note 13.

In contrast with the fecal coliform sampling it conducted on the upper and lower pastures of the Dairy, *see* Tr. at 47, the Region conducted no comparable sampling anywhere near the point at which the unnamed creek flowed into the White River. The Region's failure to sample the unnamed creek in proximity to the White River prevented the Region from gauging the toxicity of the flow at its point of entry into the White River, leaving unaddressed the question of that toxicity having attenuated over the course of migrating approximately 1.5 miles from the Dairy to the White River.

Therefore, because of its limited sampling information, we conclude that the Region has not presented sufficient evidence to support its argument that the penalty should be increased because waste that entered the White River presented a significant risk to the environment and human health. Accordingly, we decline to increase the amount of the penalty on this basis.

C. Ability to Pay Determination

The Region challenges as erroneous the Presiding Officer's decision to lower the gravity-based penalty to \$3,000 on the basis of his determination that the company lacked the financial resources to pay a higher penalty. The Region maintains that it had shown that the Dairy, based upon the tax records the Dairy had submitted before the evidentiary hearing, had the means to pay the full statutory penalty amount of \$11,000, and that the Dairy "failed to produce *any* evidence or information indicating that he would be unable to pay" this penalty amount. Appeal Brief at 16.

In reaching his determination that the Dairy could not afford a penalty greater than \$3,000, the Presiding Officer stated that the Region's financial analyst had not demonstrated that the company had the ability to pay the full penalty because the analyst had failed to determine whether certain expenses listed in the company's tax records, which the Region has proffered as examples of the Dairy's financial wherewithal, were necessary for the company to remain in business. Initial Decision at 12. Furthermore, the Presiding Officer stated his determination that the Dairy lacked the ability to pay the proposed penalty "does not require a highly technical financial analysis of its assets" because the company was "forced to proceed *pro se*" owing to the lack of funds. *Id.*

As we describe below, we find that the Region had adequately satisfied its initial burden of demonstrating that its proposed penalty should not be reduced in light of the Dairy's financial resources. We also find that the Dairy, to whom the burden shifted to show through specific information that it could not pay this amount, failed to sustain its burden.

On a number of occasions, the Board has examined the Agency's and respondent's respective burdens of proof in the application of statutory penalty factors closely resembling those in the instant case. See In re Spitzer Great Lakes, Ltd., 9 E.A.D. 302, 320 (EAB 2000); In re Chempace Corp., 9 E.A.D. 119, 132-33 (EAB 2000); In re Woodcrest Mfg., Inc., 7 E.A.D. 757, 773 (EAB 1998) (considering EPCRA penalty factors); In re New Waterbury, Ltd., 5 E.A.D. 529, 541 (EAB 1994) (considering TSCA penalty factors). In those cases, we have found that the Region, as the party bearing the ultimate burden of proof that a penalty it seeks to impose is appropriate, ¹⁴ can discharge this burden by showing that it considered each of the statutory penalty factors in making its appropriateness determination. As we observed in Spitzer:

Although the Region bears the burden of proof on the appropriateness of the overall civil penalty, it does not bear a separate burden with regard to each of the statutory factors. *Id.* Instead, in order to make a *prima facie* case, the Region must show that it considered each of the statutory factors and that the recommended penalty is supported by its analysis of those factors. With this showing, the burden then shifts to the Respondent to rebut the Region's *prima facie* case by showing that the proposed penalty is not appropriate either because the Region failed to consider a statutory factor or because the evidence shows that the recommended calculation is not supported.

Spitzer, slip op. at 28.

With reference to a party's ability to pay, we have held that the Region need not specifically prove that a respondent has the ability to pay a penalty before a penalty can be assessed. Rather, the Region need only show that it *considered* a

¹⁴ The procedures governing this procedure state, in relevant part, that:

The complainant has the burdens of presentation and persuasion that the violation occurred as set forth in the complaint and that *the relief sought* is appropriate.

⁴⁰ C.F.R. § 22.24.

respondent's ability to pay, among all the penalty factors, in imposing the penalty. *See New Waterbury*, 5 E.A.D. at 541.

In *New Waterbury*, we found that "consistent with Agency policy and prior Agency decisions, * * * a respondent's ability to pay may be *presumed* until it is put at issue by a respondent." *Id.*; *accord Spitzer*, 9 E.A.D. at 321. In *New Waterbury*, we rejected the respondent's argument that the Region as part of its *prima facie* case, had to present specific evidence that the respondent could pay the penalty:

The Region need not present any *specific* evidence to show that the respondent *can pay* or obtain funds to pay the assessed penalty, but can simply rely on some *general* financial information regarding the respondent's financial status which can support the *inference* that the penalty assessment need not be reduced.

New Waterbury, 5 E.A.D. at 542.

We further found that once the Region satisfies its initial burden of production as described above, the burden of production then shifts to the respondent to establish with *specific* information that "despite its sales volume or apparent solvency it cannot pay any penalty." *Id.* at 543; *accord In re Chempace Corp.*, 9 E.A.D. 119, 133 (EAB 2000). Only when the respondent discharges this burden does the burden again shift back to the Agency to "introduc[e] additional evidence to rebut the repondent's claim [of inability to pay]" or to use "cross examination * * * [to] discredit the respondent's contentions." *New Waterbury*, 5 E.A.D. at 543.

In our view, the Presiding Officer misapplied the burden-shifting sequence we delineated in *New Waterbury* and its progeny, and thus erred. In particular, we find that the Region provided sufficient information on the Dairy's solvency from which it could be inferred that the Dairy had the means to pay the full penalty amount requested. At the evidentiary hearing, the Region's financial analyst, summarizing information in the Dairy's tax returns, explained that the Dairy experienced positive cash flows in 1994, 1995, 1996, and 1997 of \$109,732, \$54,085, \$70,126, and \$42,689, respectively, supporting in his words "the inference that Robert Wallin has the ability to pay an \$11,000 civil penalty." CTE No. 15 (Written Testimony of Billy J. Henderson at 3). The Region's financial analyst further noted that the Dairy's gross farm income increased from \$555,474 in 1994 to \$830,595 in 1997, and suggested that Mr. Wallin might have used "some of the positive cash flow to pay the proposed penalty." *Id.* (Written Testimony of Billy J.

Henderson at 4).¹⁵ Finally, indicating that the depreciation schedule attached to the Dairy's tax returns showed several purchases exceeded the proposed penalty amount of \$11,000, the Region suggested that Mr. Wallin could have deferred such expenses in order to pay the penalty. *Id*.

In our view, the above information was more than sufficient to discharge the Region's initial burden as described in *New Waterbury* and its progeny.

Once the Region had satisfied its initial burden of production, it was incumbent upon the Presiding Officer to hold the Dairy to its countervailing burden to present *specific* information detailing its inability to pay the full penalty amount. This he failed to do. As indicated in this statement by Troy Wallin, Robert Wallin's son, the Dairy, at best provided only a general, anecdotal response:

[T]here's never anything left * * *. You keep assuming there's money I mean, all these dollar signs and everything, all these paperwork dollars. I mean, you guys don't understand, there's never enough to go around. But I did it all my life * * *. I mean, it's all speculation, yeah.

Tr. at 98. In our view, such vague statements of financial hardship do not satisfy the Dairy's burden to show through specific facts that it was unable to pay the proposed penalty amount.

Moreover, in our view, the Presiding Officer erroneously relied upon the Dairy's *pro se* status as a reason for reducing Wallin's penalty. The Presiding Officer stated that the Dairy's decision to proceed *pro se* indicated the Dairy's "lack of funds" to pay the proposed penalty and that this fact alone made unnecessary a "highly technical financial analysis of [the Dairy's] assets" in order to determine the Dairy's ability to pay the penalty. Initial Decision at 12. This finding is, however, entirely conclusory and assumes too much. The Presiding Officer does not point to any place in the record showing that the reason the Dairy was proceeding *pro se* was a lack of funds or that the Dairy was financially incapable of both paying the requested penalty and retaining counsel. The mere fact that Dairy proceeded *pro se*, and nothing more, does not satisfy the Dairy's burden of specifically showing that it could not pay the otherwise assessable penalty.¹⁶

¹⁵ In its appeal brief, the Region notes its proposed penalty of \$11,000 represents only 1.3 percent of the Dairy's gross farm income in 1997. Appeal Brief at 17.

¹⁶ In this same discussion, the Presiding Officer also appeared to suggest that the Dairy, because of its *pro se* status, was unable to adequately defend itself against the Region's charge that it had sufficient resources to pay the full statutory amount. Initial Decision at 12. While we are sensitive to the plight of *pro se* parties, *see, e.g., In re Sutter Power Plant*, 8 E.A.D. 680, 687 (EAB 1999); *In re Knauf Fiber Glass, GmbH*, 8 E.A.D. 121, 127 (EAB 1999); *In re Commonwealth Chesapeake Corp.*, Continued

In sum, because the Region showed that the Dairy's financial resources would not prevent it from paying the full penalty amount, and because the Dairy was unable to discharge its burden of production by specifically contradicting this showing, we reverse the Presiding Officer's reduction of the Dairy's penalty based on inability to pay.

Without the benefit of a downward adjustment for inability to pay, the Dairy is subject to the \$5,500 gravity-based penalty otherwise assessed by the Presiding Officer. Thus, the Dairy is ordered to pay a total penalty of \$5,500 for its CWA violation.

IV. CONCLUSION

As explained above, we assess against the Dairy a penalty of \$5,500 for discharging agricultural waste from a point source into a navigable water, in violation of the CWA.

The Dairy shall pay the full amount of the civil penalty within thirty days (30) of receipt of this decision. Payment shall be made by forwarding a cashier's or certified check payable to the Treasurer, United States of America, to the following address:

EPA-Region X Mary Shillcut Regional Hearing Clerk P.O. Box 360903M Pittsburgh, PA 15251

So ordered.

⁽continued)

⁶ E.A.D. 764, 772 (EAB 1997); *In re Rybond, Inc.*, 6 E.A.D. 614, 627 (EAB 1996), we do not believe that concerns about a party's lack of legal sophistication relax a party's burden of production to the extent contemplated by the Presiding Officer in this case, particularly since the Dairy was the source of all of the records upon which the Region based its ability to pay arguments, *see* Hearing Tr. at 97, 100, and thus should have been in a position to make pointed responses to the Region's arguments.